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I.",: 

Catherine Kilduff (CA Bar No. 256331) 
Deirdre McDonnell (AK Bar No. 111082) 
CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY 
351 California Street, Suite 600 
San Francisco, CA 94104 
Phone: (415) 436-9682 
Facsimile: (415) 436-9683 
ckilduff@biologicaldiversity.org 
dmcdonnell@biologicaldiversity.org 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs Center for Biological Diversity, 
Surfrider Foundation, and Pacific Environment 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE 

NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY, a Case No. 
non-profit organization; SURF RIDER CV 1 'J) 1920FOUNDATION, a non-profit organization; and ~ 
PACIFIC ENVIRONMENT, a non-profit 
organization, COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND 

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
Plaintiffs, 

v. 

LISA JACKSON, in her official capacity as 
Administrator of the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency; the 
ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION 
AGENCY; ROBERT J. PAPP, in his official 
capacity as Commandant ofthe United States 
Coast Guard; and the UNITED STATES 
COAST GUARD. 

Defendants. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 


1. In this civil action for declaratory and injunctive relief, Plaintiffs CENTER FOR 

BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY ("the Center"), SURFRIDER FOUNDATION ("Surfrider"), and 

PACIFIC ENVIRONMENT ("Pacific Environment") (collectively "Plaintiffs") challenge the 

failure of Defendants Lisa Jackson, Administrator of the Environmental Protection Agency, the 

Environmental Protection Agency (collectively "EPA"), Admiral Robert J. Papp, Commandant of 

the Coast Guard and the U.S. Coast Guard (collectively "Coast Guard") to comply with the 

Endangered Species Act, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531-1544 ("ESA") for action and inactions related to the 

continued authorization ofthe use of chemical dispersants, including Corexit, pursuant to the 

Federal Water Pollution Control Act ("Clean Water Act") section 311 (d), 33 U.S.C. § 1321(d), 

and its implementing regulations. Specifically, EPA and the Coast Guard have failed to undertake 

consultation and otherwise ensure that approval of chemical oil dispersants would not result in 

jeopardy to a species or destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. § 1536. 

2. As demonstrated by this year's Deepwater Horizon oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico 

and the Exxon Valdez spill of 1989, oil spills can and do cause unparalleled damage to wildlife, 

water quality, natural resources, and local economies. The Deepwater Horizon's ruptured well 

spewed nearly 5 million barrels (or 205.8 million gallons) of oil into the Gulf of Mexico, oiled 

over 500 miles of coastline, and killed thousands of seabirds, marine mammals, and other 

wildlife, including threatened and endangered species. 

3. In addition to the impacts wildlife suffer from spilled oil, including exposure to 

toxic substances, consumption of oil or oil-contaminated prey, and reduced ability to forage and 

nest, wildlife can also be harmed by oil spill clean-up measures. These measures include the 

burning of spilled oil, disruptive shoreline clean-up, and, as widely reported during the Deepwater 

Horizon spill, the use of chemical dispersants. 

4. Approximately 1.84 million gallons of total dispersant were applied to the 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill, setting a world record for amount and method of dispersant applied. 

Of those dispersants, 1.07 million gallons were applied on the surface and 771,000 sub-sea. 

5. Dispersants are used to break up oil on the water's surface and dissipate the oil 
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throughout the water column, but environmental effects ofdispersants were not fully known when 

used during the Deepwater Horizon spill, particularly at such great depths or volumes. 

6. Studies demonstrate that dispersants particularly when combined with oil are 

toxic to marine species and other wildlife. For example, Corexit, the dispersant applied in mass 

quantities during the Deepwater Horizon spill, contains a toxic solvent that ruptures red blood 

cells, causing internal bleeding, liver and kidney damage in animals. Further, once oil is dispersed 

in deep water, it cannot be recovered and its effects are difficult to assess or even observe. 

7. The EPA currently lists seventeen dispersants on the National Contingency Plan's 

Product Schedule, an inventory of dispersants that may be used in oil spill responses to implement 

the National Contingency Plan. 

8. Identification on the Product Schedule is a prerequisite for the dispersant to be 

lawfully available for future use in oil spill response activities. Regional response teams, which 

authorize use of dispersants after an oil spill in specific contexts, rely on EPA's determination that 

the listed dispersant's use is permissible, effective and safe in order to authorize the use of a given 

dispersant as part of spill response plans. EPA most recently updated its Product Schedule and 

technical notebook on March 12,2012. EPA, National Contingency Plan Product Schedule (Mar. 

2012), http://www.epa.gov/osweroel/docs/oil/ncp/schedule.pdf. 

9. The EPA's maintenance of the Product Schedule is a continuing, affirmative and 

discretionary act'that may affect ESA-listed species and critical habitats through its ongoing 

impact on the content of regional oil spill response plans. EPA has violated its Section 2 duty to 

seek to conserve endangered and threatened species and its Section 7 duties to review other 

programs administered by the EPA, utilize such programs in furtherance of the ESA, and to 

e~sure through consultation that listing of these dispersants does not jeopardize the continued 

existence oflisted species or destruction or modification of their critical habitat. 16 U.S.C. §§ 

1531(c)(1) and 1536. EPA has failed to comply with these mandates. 

10. EP A and the Coast Guard have approved policies and guidelines at the regional 

level for the use of dispersants in response to offshore oil spills. The Region IX Response Team, 

which includes the state of California, has approved such policies and guidelines to implement 
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Subpart J ofthe National Contingency Plan in its Regional Contingency Plan and Appendix XII, 

the "California Dispersant Plan and Federal On-Scene Coordinator (FOSC) Checklist for 

California Federal Offshore Waters," dated Fall 2008. 

http://www.rrt9.orglexternallcontent/document/2763/495991/1/Appx XICCA_DispersantPlan.pd 

f. 

11. The duty to consult regarding the effects of these authorizations and ensure that 

they are not likely to result in jeopardy or adverse modification is ongoing. The listing of new 

species, designation of new critical habitat areas, and the unprecedented, never before considered 

manner and volume of dispersant application currently occurring in the Gulf of Mexico triggers 

the duty to consult on the Region 9 Regional Contingency Plan under Section 7. 16 U.S.C. § 

1536. EPA and the Coast Guard are in violation of the ESA until they ensure through consultation 

that their actions are not likely to cause jeopardy to listed species or adverse modification of 

critical habitat. 

12. The Center challenges the EPA and Coast Guard's failure to ensure that their 

actions are not likely to jeopardize listed species or destroy or adversely modify their critical 

habitat. 

13. The Center brings this action to compel the EPA to initiate formal consultation 

regarding the listing of dispersants on the Product Schedule and compel the EPA and the Coast 

Guard to reinitiate consultation regarding authorization of dispersant use via the Region 9 

Regional Contingency Plan and Guidelines. 

II. JURlSDICTION, VENUE, and INTRADISTRlCT ASSIGNMENT 

14. This court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 16 U.S.C. § 1540(c) (actions 

under the ESA); 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g) (ESA citizen suit provision); 5 U.S.C. § 702 (Administrative 

Procedure Act); 28 U.S.c. § 1331 (federal question); 28 U.S.C. § 1346 (action against the United 

States); 28 U.S.C. § 1361 (action to compel an officer of the United States to perform his or her 

duty); and 28 U.S.C. § 2201-02 (power to issue declaratory judgments in cases of actual 

controversy). 

15. By written notice sent by electronic mail and certified mail on September 23,2011, 
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Plaintiffs informed the EPA and the Coast Guard of their violations more than sixty days prior to 

the filing of this Complaint, as required by the Endangered Species Act. 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). 

The EPA and Coast Guard have failed to remedy their violations of the Act. 

16. Plaintiffs demanded that the EPA satisfy its statutory obligations to undertake 

consultation on its actions listing dispersants. Plaintiffs also demanded that the EPA and the Coast 

Guard satisfy their statutory obligations to undertake consultation on their actions authorizing 

dispersant use through the Region 9 Regional Contingency Plan. The EPA and Coast Guard have 

failed to remedy the alleged violations, and therefore an actual, justiciable controversy exists 

within the meaning of28 U.S.C. § 2201(a). 

17. Venue is proper in the Northern District of California pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1391(e) as at least one plaintiff resides in this judicial district. 

18. Pursuant to Civil Local Rule 3-2(c) and 3-2(d), the appropriate intradistrict 

assignment of this case is either to the San Francisco Division or the Oakland Division. 

III. PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff CENTER FOR BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY is a non-profit 501(c)(3) 

corporation with offices in San Francisco, Joshua Tree, and Los Angeles, California; as well as in 

Washington, Oregon, Arizona, Nevada, New Mexico, Illinois, Minnesota, Vermont, and 

Washington, D.C. Through science, policy, and law, the Center works to secure a future for all 

species, great or small, hovering on the brink of extinction. The Center has 36,925 members 

throughout the United States and the world. These members include those who have viewed, 

photographed, and otherwise appreciated threatened and endangered species that may be affected 

by chemical dispersants, who live near these species, habitats, and ecosystems, and who intend to 

visit and enjoy these species, habitats and ecosystems in the future. 

20. Plaintiff SURFRIDER FOUNDATION is a grassroots, non-profit environmental 

organization dedicated to the protection and enjoyment of the world's oceans, waves and beaches 

for all people, through a powerful activist network. Surfrider brings this lawsuit on its own behalf, 

on behalf of its San Francisco Chapter, and on behalf of more than 50,000 members who live in 

the United States. Surfrider has over 82 local Chapters nationwide, including the volunteer-based 
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San Francisco Chapter with an office, located in San Francisco, California. Surfiider has a 

particular interest in protecting ocean and coastal resources, including coastal marine life. 

Surfiider brings this action on its own institutional behalf and on behalf of its members, board, 

and staff, some of whom regularly enjoy and will continue to enjoy observing and studying, and 

attempting to observe and study, the ocean and coastal marine life that are put in jeopardy from a 

polluting oil spill and resultant use of toxic dispersants. The interests of Surfiider and its 

members, board, and staff in observing, studying, and otherwise enjoying the coastal resources 

and marine life have been, and will continue to be, harmed by Defendants' continued 

authorization of toxic dispersants without proper analyses and consultations. Surfiider, its 

members, board, and staff have worked to protect the coastal environment, including the ocean 

and coastal resources throughout the nation for over 27 years, and have expended significant 

organizational resources on advocacy and public education efforts aimed at protecting the nation's 

ocean and coastal resources. 

21. Pacific Environment is an international non-governmental organization that works 

to protect the living environment of the Pacific Rim by promoting grassroots activism, 

strengthening communities and reforming international policies. Pacific Environment has 

approximately 10,000 supporters in the United States, many of which depend on the ocean for 

professional, subsistence and recreational purposes. Pacific Environment's principal place of 

business is San Francisco, California. 

22. Plaintiffs have members with concrete interests in the conservation of endangered 

marine and coastal species and the protection of their habitat. Plaintiffs' members and staff have 

researched, studied, observed, and sought protection for endangered species at risk ofharm from 

oil spills and oil spill responses. In addition, the members and staffhave visited and observed, or 

sought out, threatened and endangered marine species. The Plaintiffs' members also enjoy 

recreating in unspoiled coastal areas. They enjoy visiting beaches, surfing, kayaking, swimming, 

and wading in the ocean. The ability to view endangered species in these habitats enriches these 

experiences. The Plaintiffs' members and staff intend to continue to visit and observe, or attempt 

to visit and observe, these species in the near future. These members derive scientific, 
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recreational, conservation, and aesthetic benefits from rare species' existence in the wild. 

Plaintiffs' staff and members' use and enjoyment of the lands, coastline, waters, and species 

inhabiting these areas is entirely dependent on the continued existence of healthy, sustainable, and 

accessible ecosystems and populations. Any activities, such as the release of dispersants and other 

clean-up actions, that destroy, degrade, or diminish these areas, or that kill, injure, harm, harass, 

or displace populations, also interfere with the Plaintiffs' staff and members' use and enjoyment 

of the areas and species. In addition, Plaintiffs members are concerned about the human health 

impacts of chemical dispersants. As such, activities authorized by Defendants directly and 

irreparably injure Plaintiffs' interests. The EPA's failure to comply with ESA requirements delays 

protections that insure the future benefits of the existence of endangered species and their critical 

habitat. 

23. The Plaintiffs have also suffered informational and procedural injuries from 

Defendants' failure to comply with the ESA in permitting the use ofdispersants without full and 

adequate analysis of the environmental impacts. These injuries are connected to the Plaintiffs' 

substantive conservation, recreational, scientific, and aesthetic interests. The Plaintiffs' members 

and staff rely on Defendants to comply with the requirements of the ESA and prepare adequate 

environmental analyses as required by the statute, including biological assessments. The 

Plaintiffs' rely on these analyses to achieve their organizational purposes, including monitoring 

the use of marine and coastal environments and the management of marine and coastal wildlife; 

monitoring compliance with the law concerning these species' management; educating members, 

directors, staff, and the public concerning species management and the state of the coastal 

environinent; and advocating policies that protect coastal habitat and wildlife. The actions of the 

Defendants not only harm the procedural interest of the Center and its members, but also has 

harmed and threatens future harm to the concrete interests the Center, its members, staff, and 

board have in the fish, wildlife and ecosystems of the waters ofthe United States. 

24. The interests and organizational purposes of the Plaintiffs and their staff and 

members will be directly and irreparably injured by Defendants' violations oflaw as described in 

this complaint. Unless this Court grants the requested relief and orders Defendants to comply with 
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the ESA, harm to the terrestrial, coastal, and marine environments and harm to the species that 

depend on those environments will continue to accrue, and the aesthetic, recreational, educational, 

professional, scientific, spiritual, and conservation interests of the Plaintiffs and their staff and 

members will continue to be adversely affected. 

25. These are actual, concrete injuries to Plaintiffs, caused by the EPA and Coast 

Guard's failure to comply with the ESA, ~he Administrative Procedure Act, and their 

implementing regulations. The relief requested will fully redress those injuries. Plaintiffs bring 

this action on their own behalf and on behalf of their adversely affected members and staff. 

26. Defendant LISA JACKSON, is sued in her official capacity as Administrator of the 

Environmental Protection Agency. She is the highest ranking official within the Environmental 

Protection Agency and, in that capacity, has ultimate responsibility for proper administration and 

implementation of the Clean Water Act with regard to preparing the Product Schedule that 

identifies dispersants that may be used, co-chairing Regional Response Teams that develop 

federal regional contingency plans, and approving, disapproving, or approving with modification 

the preauthorization plans that address specific contexts in which dispersants listed on the Product 

Schedule should and should not be used. She also has responsibility for compliance with all other 

federal laws applicable to the Environmental Protection Agency, including the ESA. 

27. Defendant ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY is the United States 

federal agency that has responsibility to ensure that the requirements of the Clean Water Act and 

other applicable laws are followed and enforced with respect to the preparation and revision of the 

National Contingency Plan, the Product Schedule, and regional contingency plans. These 

requirements include identifying the quantities of dispersant, if any, that can be used safely and in 

which waters they may be used and approving, disapproving, or approving with modification the 

preauthorization plans that address specific contexts in which dispersants listed on the Product 

Schedule should and should not be used. 

28. Defendant ROBERT J. PAPP, Commandant of the United States Coast Guard, is 

sued in his official capacity. He is the highest ranking official within in the United States Coast 

Guard and, in that capacity, has responsibility for administration and implementation of the Clean 
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Water Act with respect to co-chairing Regional Response Teams that develop federal regional 

contingency plans, and approving, disapproving, or approving with modification the 

preauthorization plans that address specific contexts in which dispersants listed on the Product 

Schedule should and should not be used. He also has responsibility for compliance with all other 

federal laws applicable to the United States Coast Guard, including the ESA. 

29. Defendant UNITED STATES COAST GUARD is the United States federal 

agency that jointly shares responsibility with the EPA to ensure that the requirements of the Clean 

Water Act and other applicable laws are followed and enforced with respect to the preparation and 

revision ofregional contingency plans. These requirements include developing federal regional 

contingency plans, and approving, disapproving, or approving with modification the 

pre authorization plans that address specific contexts in which dispersants listed on the Product 

Schedule should and should not be used. 

IV. STATUTORY BACKGROUND 

A. The Clean Water Act 

The Product Schedule 

30. The federal government's oil spill response duties and procedures are set forth in 

section 311 the Clean Water Act. 33 U.S.C. § 1321. In the event of an oil spill, the President must 

take actions necessary to ensure effective and immediate removal of the discharged oil, as well as 

mitigation or prevention of a substantial risk ofdischarge of oil into the waters ofthe United 

States.ld. § 1321 (c)-(d). 

31. The President's duties with respect to responding to oil spills have been delegated 

to EPA and the Coast Guard, among others. Exec. Order No. 12,777,56 Fed. Reg. 54,757 (Oct. 

22, 1991). 

32. Removal activities must be conducted pursuant to a detailed National Contingency 

Plan. !d. § 1321(d). The National Contingency Plan must delineate the duties of various federal, 

state, and local officials in response to an oil spill, including Coast Guard "strike teams"; identify 

techniques and procedures for response; and provide a Product Schedule identifying which 

"dispersants, other chemicals, and spill mitigating ... substances ... may be used," and the 
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quantities and locations in which those chemicals may be used. !d. Further, the National 

Contingency Plan must include a "fish and wildlife response plan" for the rescue and 

minimization of damage to wildlife and habitat from a discharge. Id. 

33. The National Contingency Plan Product Schedule identifies 

(i) dispersants, other chemicals, and other spill mitigating devices and 

substances, if any, that may be used in carrying out the Plan, 

(ii) the waters in which such dispersants, other chemicals, and other spill 

mitigating devices and substances may be used, and 

(iii) the quantities of such dispersant, other chemicals, or other spill 

mitigating device or substance which can be used safely in such waters, 

which schedule shall provide in the case of any dispersant, chemical, spill 

mitigating device or substance, or waters not specifically identified in such 

schedule that the President, or his delegate, may, on a case-by-case basis, 

identify the dispersants, other chemicals, and other spill mitigating devices 

and substances which may be used, the waters in which they may be used, 

and the quantities which can be used safely in such waters. 

33 C.F.R. § 1321 (d)(2)(G). 

34. EPA's regulations implementing Section 311 (d) set forth the process for 

maintaining the Product Schedule as well as adding products to it. 40 C.F.R. §§ 300.905(a) and 

300.920. 

35. To add a dispersant to the list, manufacturers must provide EPA with the required 

data specified in 40 C.P.R. § 300.915(a), including information on effectiveness and toxicity. See 

also 40 C.F.R. part 300 App. C (describing the effectiveness and toxicity tests). Results of toxicity 

testing factor into the product's effectiveness value. RegUlations require that a dispersant achieve 

a 45 percent or greater effectiveness value to be added to the Product Schedule. 40 C.P.R. §§ 

300.915(a)(8),300.920(a). 

36. EPA retains the right to conduct its own testing to verify industry results and to 

weigh testing results in determining whether the product meets listing criteria. !d. at § 300.920(a). 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 9 
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37. EPA's establishment and maintenance ofthe Product Schedule is a prerequisite to 

the use ofa dispersant in oil spill response activities. 33 U.S.c, §1321(d)(2)(G). 

Regional and Area Contingency Plans 

38. In addition to the National Contingency Plan, the Clean Water Act also requires 

the development ofArea Contingency Plans, prepared by a designated "Area Committee" 

comprised of federal, local, and state officials. 33 U.S.C. § 1321 (j)(4). The on-scene coordinator, 

which the Coast Guard provides in the case ofdischarges within or threatening the coastal zone, is 

responsible for overseeing the development of the Area Contingency Plan. 40 C.F.R. § 

300. 120(e). Area Contingency Plans are then approved by Defendants. 

39. Each Area Contingency Plan must include a "Fish and Wildlife and Sensitive 

Environments Plan" that is prepared in consultation with the Fish and Wildlife Service and the 

National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration and identifies "potential environmental effects 

on fish and wildlife, their habitat, and other sensitive environments resulting from removal actions 

or countermeasures, including the option of no removal" and methods "for deterring sensitive fish 

and wildlife from entering oiled areas, and for capturing, holding, cleaning, and releasing injured 

wildlife." !d. § 300.210(c)(4). 

40. In addition, area contingency plans must include a list of equipment, "dispersants 

or other mitigating substances and devices, and personnel available ... to ensure an effective and 

immediate removal of a discharge, and to ensure mitigation or prevention of a substantial threat of 

a discharge." 33 U.S.c, § 1321(j)(4)(C); 40 C.F.R. § 300.210(c)(3). 

41. Finally, Regional Response Teams that are overseen by Defendants are responsible 

for developing and maintaining Regional Contingency Plans. 40 C.F.R. § 300.210(b). The 

Regional Contingency Plans "follow the format of the NCP" and coordinate response between 

state emergency plans and area-specific contingency plans. Id. A regional contingency plan must 

be developed for each EPA region, in addition to a separate Regional Contingency Plan for 

Alaska. 

42. The regional contingency plan outlines the assistance available to the federal on-

scene coordinator, which is the key federal official pre-designated by the EPA and the Coast 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTNE RELIEF 10 
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Guard to coordinate, mobilize and direct the services of all federal agencies and their resources. In 

the case of oil discharges within or threatening the coastal zone, the federal on-scene coordinator 

is a Coast Guard representative. 40 C.F.R. § 300.l20(a)(1). 

43. The representatives ofEPA and the Coast Guard act as co-chairs ofregional 

response teams except when the regional response team is activated for a response. 40 C.F.R. § 

300.115. When the regional response team is activated for response actions, the Coast Guard 

chairs the response for oil discharges within or threatening the coastal zone. /d. § § 300.115( c), 

300.l20(a)(1 ). 

Authorization ofDispersant Use 

44. Regional response teams and area committees shall address "the desirability of 

using appropriate dispersants, surface washing agents, surface collecting agents, bioremediation 

agents, or miscellaneous oil spill control agents listed on the NCP Product Schedule." 40 C.F.R. § 

300.91O(a). Regional contingency plans and area contingency plans "shall, as appropriate, include 

applicable preauthorization plans and address the specific contexts in which such products should 

and should not be used." Id. (emphasis added). 

45. The regional response team representatives from EPA and states with jurisdiction 

over the waters of the area to ~hich a preauthorization plan applies and the natural resource 

trustees from the Department of Commerce and Department of Interior "shall review and either 

approve, disapprove, or approve with modification the preauthorization plans developed by area 

committees, as appropriate." 40 C.F.R. § 300.910(a). 

46. Approved preauthorization plans shall be included in the appropriate regional 

contingency plans and area contingency plans. /d. 

47. Once the use of certain products is approved in a preauthorization plan as 

described above, the Coast Guard on scene coordinator may authorize the use of the products 

without obtaining further concurrences that would be otherwise required by 40 C.F.R. § 

300.91O(b) and (c). 40 C.F.R. § 300.910(a). 

48. When a spill presents a situation not addressed in preauthorization plans, the on 

scene coordinator, with the concurrence ofthe EPA representative to the Regional Response 
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Team and, as appropriate, the concurrence of state regional response team representatives and in 

consultation with the Department of Commerce and Department of Interior natural resource 

trustees, when practicable, "may authorize the use ofdispersants, surface washing agents, surface 

collecting agents, bioremediation agents, or miscellaneous oil spill control agents on the oil 

discharge, provided that the products are listed on the NCP Product Schedule." 40 C.F.R. § 

300.91O(b). 

B. The Endangered Species Act 

49. With the ESA, Congress intended endangered species to be afforded the highest of 

priorities. The ESA's purpose is "to provide a means whereby the ecosystems upon which 

endangered species and threatened species depend may be conserved, [and] to provide a program 

for the conservation of such endangered species and threatened species." 16 U.S.C. § 1531(b). 

50. Under the ESA, conservation means "to use and the use of all methods and 

procedures which are necessary to bring any endangered species or threatened species to the point 

at which the measures provided pursuant to this chapter are no longer necessary." Id. § 1532(3). 

51. The ESA assigns responsibility to implement the statute to the Secretaries of 

Commerce and Interior, which in turn have delegated responsibility to the National Marine 

Fisheries Service and the U.S. Fisb and Wildlife Service, respectively. 50 C.F.R. § 402.01 (b). 

Generally, the National Marine Fisheries Service ("Fisheries Service") has jurisdiction over 

marine species, while the Fish and Wildlife Service has jurisdiction over terrestrial and freshwater 

species. The Fisheries Services has responsibility for the listed whale species, pinnipeds, fish and 

listed coral species. The Fish and Wildlife Service has responsibility for the manatee, polar bear, 

sea otter and listed bird species, as well as terrestrial and freshwater species. The Fisheries Service 

and the Fish and Wildlife Service share responsibility for the five listed sea turtle species. 

52. The ESA protects imperiled species by listing them as "endangered" or 

"threatened." A species is "endangered" if it "is in danger of extinction throughout all or a 

significant portion of its range." 16 U.S.C. § 1532(6). A species is "threatened" if it is "likely to 

become an endangered species in the foreseeable future." Id. § 1532(20). For listed species, the 

ESA requires that the Fisheries Service or Fish and Wildlife Service designate "critical habitat" 
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for each species. Id. § 1533. The critical habitat designations must be based on "the best scientific 

data available." Id. § 1533(b )(2). 

53. To fulfill the substantive purposes ofthe ESA, federal agencies are required to 

engage in Section 7 consultation with the Fisheries Service or the Fish and Wildlife Service, 

depending on the species at issue, to "insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by 

such agency ... is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or 

threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification ofhabitat of such species 

which is determined ... to be critical." Id. § 1536(a)(2). 

54. Section 7 consultation is required for "any action [that] may affect listed species or 

critical habitat." 50 C.F.R. § 402.14. Agency "action" is defined broadly in the ESA's 

implementing regulations to include "(b) the promulgation of regulations; ( c) the granting of 

licenses, contracts, leases, easements, rights-of-way, permits, or grants-in-aid; or (d) actions 

directly or indirectly causing modifications to the land, water, or air." Id. § 402.02. 

55. If the agency proposing the action determines that it "may affect" a listed species, 

the agency must engage in "formal consultation" with the Fisheries Service or the Fish and 

Wildlife Service to meet the ESA's substantive "no jeopardy" mandate. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b); 50 

C.F.R. § 402.14. 

56. Here, because dispersants have the potential to affect listed species and critical 

habitat, this means that the EPA, which is taking the action oflisting dispersants on the Product 

Schedule, must consult with the Fisheries Service and Fish and Wildlife Service. 

57. This also means that the EPA and the Coast Guard must consult with the Fisheries 

Service and Fish and Wildlife Service on the action of approving the Region IX Regional 

Contingency Plan. 

58. Unless the Secretary takes action to extend the period, consultation must be 

completed within 90 days from the date of initiation. 16 U.S.C. § 1536(b)(1)(A)-(B). 

59. At the completion of consultation, the Fisheries Service or the Fish and Wildlife 

Service will issue a biological opinion that determines if the agency action is likely to jeopardize 

the species. Id. §1536(b)(3)-(4); 50 C.F.R. § 402. 14(h). The term "jeopardize" is defined as an 
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action that "reasonably would be expected ... to reduce appreciably the likelihood ofboth the 

survival ahd recovery of a listed species in the wild by reducing the reproduction, numbers, or 

distribution of that species." 50 C.F.R. §402.02. 

60. The consulting agency must base its determination of whether an activity is likely 

to jeopardize the continued existence of a species solely on "the best scientific and commercial 

data available." 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2). The ESA does not permit the agency to base its jeopardy 

determination on other factors, such as the cost of protecting the species. 

61. If the Fisheries Service or the Fish and Wildlife Service determines that the action 

is likely to jeopardize a species, the biological opinion must outline "reasonable and prudent 

alternatives" to the action, if any exist~ that will avoid jeopardy and "which [the agency] believes 

would not violate [Section 7(a)(2)]." Id. § 1536(b)(3)(A); 50C.F. R. §402.14(h)(3). The Fisheries 

Service or the Fish and Wildlife Service may also "suggest modifications" to the acti<;m during the 

course of consultation to "avoid the likelihood ofadverse effects" to the listed species even when 

not necessary to avoid jeopardy. 50 C.F.R. § 402. 13(b). 

62. Conversely, pursuant to Section 7(b)(4) of the ESA, a biological opinion that 

concludes that the agency action is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of a listed 

species must include an "incidental take statement," which provides a limited exception to the 

ESA's prohibition on take, specifies the impact of any allowable takes of individual members of 

the species, provides reasonable and prudent measures necessary to minimize the impact of those 

takes, and sets forth terms and conditions that must be followed to implement such measures. 16 

U.S.C. § 1536(b)(4); 50 C.F. R. § 402.14(i)(1), (3). Section 7(0)(2) exempts takings in compliance 

with these terms and conditions from the prohibition on takings in Section 9 of the ESA. 16 

U.S.C. § 1536(0)(2). 

63. After the issuance of a final biological opinion and "where discretionary Federal 

involvement or control over the action has been retained or is authorized by law," the agency must 

reinitiate formal consultation if, inter alia: 

• 	 "the amount or extent of taking specified in the incidental take statement is 

exceeded"; 
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• "new infonnation reveals' effects of the action that may affect listed species or 

critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered"; or 

• "the identified action is subsequently modified in a manner that causes an effect to 

the listed species ... that was not considered in the biological opinion." 

50 C.F.R. § 402.12. 

v. REGULATORY HISTORY 

A. EPA's Product Schedule 

64. EPA's Product Schedule currently lists 17 dispersants, 2 of which belong to the 

Corexit brand. EPA, Product Schedule (March 12,2012). 

http://www.epa.gov/osweroel/docs/oil/ncp/schedule.pdf. 

65. In addition to the Product Schedule, EPA publishes a Product Schedule Technical 

Notebook, which contains infonnation on conditions in which the products may be used and 

instructions for use. EPA, Product Schedule Technical Notebook (March 12, 2012). 

http://www .epa. gov /osweroe 1 / docs/ oil/ncp/notebook. pdf. 

66. EP A maintains and regularly updates the Product Schedule and Technical 

Notebook. Over the years, 46 products were previously listed that no longer appear on the Product 

Schedule. In the past two years since the Deepwater Horizon oil spill, EPA has added three 

dispersants on the Product Schedule. 

67. EPA has listed on the Product Schedule the two principal dispersants used in the 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill response - despite significant questions regarding their safety - and 

those dispersants remain listed today. Corexit 9500 was listed under Subpart Jon April 13, 1994; 

it was re-listed December 18, 1995 under the name Corexit EC9500A (commonly referred to as 

"Corexit 9500A"). Corexit 9527 was originally listed on March 10, 1978 and was re-listed 

December 18, 1995. This dispersant is now listed under the name Corexit EC9527A (commonly 

referred to as "Corexit 9527 A"). 

68. EPA's Product Schedule Notebook indicates that Corexit 9500A and 9527A are 

most appropriate for surface application and is most effectively applied by aircraft. The Corexit 

dispersants have average effectiveness rates around 50 percent, but effectiveness varies depending 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 15 

http://www
http://www.epa.gov/osweroel/docs/oil/ncp/schedule.pdf


1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

on the type of crude oiL EPA, Product Schedule Notebook (March 12,2012) at 2-3 and 12-13. 

69. In the wake of the Deepwater Horizon spill response, EPA exercised its discretion 

independently to test eight of the dispersants on the list, including Corexit 9500 and Corexit 9527. 

http://www.epa.gov/bpspill/dispersants-testing.html#phasel (last visited March 30,2012). 

B. 	 EPA and Coast Guard Authorization of Dispersant Use through Regional Response 

Team Dispersant Use Policies and Guidelines 

70. EPA and the Coast Guard have also approved policies and guidelines at the 

regional level for the use of dispersants in response to offshore oil spills. These approvals are 

ongoing federal agency actions subject to ESA Section 7 consultation. 

71. The Regional Response Team Region IX, which includes the states of California, 

Arizona and New Mexico, has policies and guidelines to implement Subpart J of the National Oil 

and Hazardous Substances Contingency Plan in its Regional Contingency Plan ("Regional 

Contingency Plan"), which was approved by the EPA and the Coast Guard in or around October 

2008. See Federal Region IX Regional Contingency Plan, 

http://www.rrt9.orglexternallcontentidocument/2763/49564311/RRT

IX%20Regional%20Contingency%20Plan.pdf. 

72. The Regional Contingency Plan contains a "Dispersant Use Policy." The policy 

states that all dispersant use is governed by either the pre-approval process or the incident-specific 

Regional Response Team approval required process (i.e. no areas within Region IX are designated 

as zones that allow preapproved dispersant use contingent on consultation with the regional 

response team). 

73. 	 The Regional Contingency Plan also contains monitoring protocols for dispersants. 

74. The EPA Region IX regional contingency plan also includes the California 

Dispersant Plan. Regional Contingency Plan Appendix XII, California Dispersant Plan and 

Federal On-Scene Coordinator (FOSC) Checklist for California Federal Offshore Waters (Oct. 

2008), 

http://www.rrt9.orglexternal/content/document/2763/495991/1/Appx_XICCA DispersantPlan.pd 

f. 
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75. The California Dispersant Plan focuses on federal offshore waters that have been 

designated "pre-approved" for dispersant use. This area includes waters 3-200 nautical miles from 

shore, not within a National Marine Sanctuary, and not within 3 miles of the California-Mexico 

border. Id. at 1-5. 

76. For waters not pre-approved for dispersant use, i.e. waters closer than 3 miles from 

shore, within a National Marine Sanctuary and within 3 miles of the California-Mexico borders, 

the California Dispersant Plan refers to the case-py-case regional response team approval process. 

See id. at 11-4 (providing instructions and a checklist to assist the federal on scene coordinator in 

making hislher determination of whether to use dispersants). 

77. In November 2003, the Northwest Region of the National Marine Fisheries Service 

concluded an ESA section 7 consultation for oil spill response activities. This consultation 

considered the potential effects of dispersants on large whales, Steller sea lions and salmonids. 

Consultation on endangered and threatened species in the Southwest Region had not been 

conducted as of August 2005. See id. at J-4 to J-5, Letter from Rodney McInnis, Regional 

Administrator for the Southwest Region, NMFS, to Captain Steve Thompson, Regional Response 

Team IX, dated August 18, 2005. 

78. Based on information and belief, the Coast Guard and the EPA relied on the 

November 2003 National Marine Fisheries Service consultation on the potential effects of 

dispersants on large whales, Steller sea lions and salmonids in approving the Region IX Regional 

Contingency Plan. 

79. Based on information and belief, the Fish and Wildlife Service has not completed 

ESA section 7 consultation on the California Dispersant Plan. See id. at Appendix J. 

80. Based on information and belief, the Coast Guard and the EPA had requested but 

not completed consultation with the Fish and Wildlife Service when they approved the Region IX 

Regional Contingency Plan. 

VI. RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

81. The Deepwater Horizon oil spill provided new information that dispersant use may 

affect listed species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered. 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTWE RELIEF 17 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Subsea application ofdispersants had not been used as part of a response before. This method of 

use has the potential to affect listed species that were not considered vulnerable to oil spill 

responses prior to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. 

82. Louisiana sweet crude oil, the type spilled by the Deepwater Horizon, is light oil, a 

mixture of chemical compounds that is relatively degradable and has the potential to evaporate 

more readily than other crude oil. Oil spill response strategies included direct capture ofoil from 

the wellhead (17 percent), surface skimming (3 percent), booming and burning (5 percent) and the 

application of chemical oil dispersants (8 percent). BP Deepwater Horizon Oil Budget: What 

Happened to the Oil? 

http://www.noaanews.noaa.gov/stories20l0/PDFs/OilBudget_description_%2083final.pdf 

83. Despite the large amounts ofdispersants used in response to the Deepwater 

Horizon oil spill, it is not known whether the use ofdispersants, specifically Corexit, was in fact 

successful in reducing the overall impacts of the oil. 

84. The widespread oil caused damage to marine and wildlife habitats and the Gulfs 

fishing and tourism industries. The use ofdispersants has been controversial, because the 

dispersants themselves are toxic to aquatic organisms. 

85. There are indications that the dispersants could inhibit the natural degradation of 

the oil. 

86. There is no data yet showing the effects of the huge volume ofdispersants after the 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill. 

87. Scientists found that DOSS (diactyl sodium sulfosuccinate), an anionic surfactant 

commonly used in dispersants, was sequestered in deep plumes and did not significantly 

biodegrade. This highlights the persistence of DOSS in the water column, up to 64 days and 300 

km after the dispersant applications ceased on July 12,2010. Kujawinski, E., M. Kido Soule, D. 

Valentine, A. Boysen, K. Longnecker and M. Redmond. Fate ofdispersants associated with the 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Environ. Sci. & Technology 45: 1298-1306 (2010). 

88. Only a small number of species oflimited diversity have been routinely used in 

dispersant testing. Testing has not been based on habitat and geographic location to guarantee 
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adequate infonnation in the event dispersant application is an option for spill response. 

89. Recent research into the comparative toxicities of the different dispersants on the 

Product Schedule provides new infonnation about where and when to use dispersants. 

90. A primary concern associated with the use ofdispersants is the toxicity of the 

dispersed oil and the increased bioavailability of toxic oil constituents dissipated over a larger 

spatial area of water column. 

91. Research has documented that oil carbon was incorporated into the planktonic food 

web and transferred from small zooplankton to the larger zooplankton eating them. Graham, W., 

R. Condon, R. Carmichael, L D'Ambra, H. Patterson, L. Linn, and F. Hernandez. Oil carbon 

entered the coastal planktonic food web during the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Environ. Res. 

Lett 5:045301 (6pp) (2010), http://iopsciencejop.org/1748-9326/5/4/045301/pdfIl748

9326_5 4 045301.pdf. 

92. Scientists have documented effects of the spilled oil on genome expression and 

morphology on a resident marsh fish. Larval and adult fish also showed aberrant protein 

expression in gill tissues. The effects persisted for over two months after exposure. Whitehead, 

A., B. Dubansky, C. Bodinier, T. Garcia, S. Miles, C. Pilley, V. Raghunathan, J. Roach, N. 

Walker, R. Walter, C. Rice, S. Galvez. 2011. Genomic and physiologicalfootprint ofthe 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill on resident marsh fishes. doillO. 1 073/pnas.l 109545108 (2010), 

http://www.pnas.org/contentlearly/2011109/21111 095451 OS.full.pdf. 

93. Scientists and agencies continue to study the environmental impacts from the 

Deepwater Horizon oil spill and its response, including dispersant use; long-tenn effects have yet 

to be seen. 

94. The new infonnation described above especially as it relates to the novel subsea 

application of dispersants in response to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill requires that Defendants 

reinitiate consultation. 

95. In addition, new species have been listed and critical habitat designated since the 

National Marine Fisheries Service consulted with Region IX Regional Response Team on 

dispersant use. These species and their critical habitat are potentially affected by the use of 
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dispersants. As such, the EPA and the Coast Guard must consult with the Fish and Wildlife 

Service and the National Marine Fisheries Service to ensure that listing dispersants on the Product 

Schedule and approving dispersant use in the regional contingency plan is not likely to jeopardize 

the continued existence or result in the destruction or adverse modific.ation ofhabitat" ofthese 

listed endangered and threatened species. 

96. For example, the black abalone was listed on.February 13,2009, as an endangered 

sp~cies and critical habitat designated on the California coast on November 28,2011. Endangered 

and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Endangered Status/or Black Abalone, 74 Fed. Reg. 1937 

(Jan. 14,2009); Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants: Final Rulemaking To Designate 

Critical Habitat/or Black Abalone, 76 Fed. Reg. 66806 (Oct. 27, 2011). 

97. Sea turtles in EPA Region IX have also gained additional protections. The National 

Marine Fisheries Services designated the North Pacific Ocean distinct population segment of 

loggerhead sea turtle as endangered on October 24,2011. Endangered and Threatened Species; 

Determination 0/Nine Distinct Population Segments 0/Loggerhead Sea Turtles as Endangered 

or Threatened, 76 Fed. Reg. 58868 (Sept. 22,2011). 

98. The National Marine Fisheries Service designated critical habitat for the 

endangered leatherback sea turtle on February 27,2012, and identified density of prey Gellyfish) 

as a primary constituent element of the critical habitat. Endangered and Threatened Species: 

Final Rule To Revise the Critical Habitat Designation/or the Endangered Leatherback Sea 

Turtle, 77 Fed. Reg. 4170 (Jan. 26, 2012). The National Marine Fisheries Service noted that the 

"impact ofdispersants and dispersed oil on jellyfish is n~t well known, but putting oil into the 

water column via dispersants may actually be more detrimental to jellyfish than not applying 

dispersants; therefore a response in offshore waters may not necessarily benefit critical habitat for 

leatherbacks." Id. at 4182. 
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VII. CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 


First Claim for Relief 


Violation of the Endangered Species Act Section 7, 16 U.S.C. § 1536 


(Failure to insure that listing dispersants on the product Schedule is not likely to jeopardize 

listed species or adversely affect critical habitat.) 

99. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each 

and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

100. The use of dispersants in oil spill responses is likely to jeopardize the continued 

existence of ESA listed species or result in the destruction or adverse modification ofcritical 

habitat. 

101. Research shows that dispersants do not significantly biodegrade even 60 days after 

application ceases in response to an oil spilL Dispersants increase bioavailability of toxic oil 

constituents dissipated over a larger spatial area ofwater column and may inhibit natural 

degradation of oiL 

102. The use of dispersants and research into effects of dispersants since the Deepwater 

Horizon oil spill constitutes new infonnation on the effects of the action that may affect listed 

species or critical habitat in a manner or to an extent not previously considered. 

103. In particular the use of subsea dispersants and the large quantity ofdispersants 

used in the response to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill has subsequently modified the use of 

dispersants considered in previous biological opinions in a manner that affects listed species. 

104. EPA's failure to consult with the Fish and Wildlife Service and the National 

Marine Fisheries Service regarding the effects on listed species and their critical habitat of the use 

of dispersants listed on the Product Schedule in the manner described in the Product Schedule 

Technical Notebook constitutes a failure to insure that their actions are not likely to jeopardize the 

existence of listed species or result in destruction or adverse modification of critical habitat, in 

violation of section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.c. § 1536. Such action is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse 

of discretion and otherwise not in accordance with the meaning of the Administrative Procedure 

Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and is subject to judicial review under 16 U .S.C. §1540(g). 
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Second Claim for Relief 


Violation of the Endangered Species Act Section 7, 16 U.S.C. § 1536 


(Failure to insure that approving the Region IX Regional Contingency Plan is not likely to 

. jeopardize listed species in southern California or adversely affect critical habitat.) 

105. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each 

and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

106. The use of dispersants in oil spill responses is likely to jeopardize the continued 

existence of ESA listed species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical 

habitat. 

107. Defendants are members and overseers ofRegion IX Regional Response Team. 

108. Defendants improperly relied on an inadequate 2003 consultation with the 

Northwest Region of the National Marine Fisheries Service when they approved the Region IX 

Regional Contingency Plan because the consultation did not insure the action would not be likely 

to jeopardize the existence oflisted species or result in destruction or adverse modification of 

critical habitat, in violation of section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536. The 2003 consultation 

considered only species in northern California, not species in southern California. Such action is 

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and otherwise not in accordance with the meaning of 

the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.c. § 706(2), and is subject to judicial review under 16 

U.S.C. §1540(g). 

Third Claim for Relief 

Violation of the Endangered Species Act Section 7,16 U.S.C. § 1536 

(Failure to insure that approving the Region IX Regional Contingency Plan is not likely to 

jeopardize listed species or adversely affect critical habitat within the jurisdiction of the Fish 

and Wildlife Service.) 

109. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each 

and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

110. The use of dispersants in oil spill responses is likely to jeopardize the continued 

existence of ESA listed species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of critical 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 22 



5 

10 

15 

20 

25 

1 habitat. 

2 Ill. Defendants are members and overseers of Region IX Regional Response Team. 

3 112. Defendants improperly approved the Region IX Regional Contingency Plan 

4 without completing consultation with the Fish and Wildlife Service. Defendants did not insure the 

action would not be likely to jeopardize the existence oflisted species or result in destruction or 

6 adverse modification of critical habitat, in violation of section 7 of the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1536. 

7 Such action is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and otherwise not in accordance with 

8 the meaning of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2), and is subject to judicial 

9 review under 16 U.S.C. §1540(g). 

Fourth Claim for Relief 

11 Violation of the Endangered Species Act Sections 2, 3 and 7, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531 and 1536 

12 (Failure to conserve endangered and threatened species.) 

13 113. Plaintiffs re-allege and incorporate by reference, as if fully set forth herein, each 

14. and every allegation in the preceding paragraphs of this Complaint. 

114. Defendants violated and continues to violate the ESA, 16 U.S.C. §§ 1531(c)(1) and 

16 1536(a)(1), by failing to use its authorities to regulate dispersant use so as to avoid the adverse 

17 impacts of dispersants on the ecosystem, threatened and endangered spe"cies that occur therein, 

18 and their critical habitat. 

19 115. Defendants' failure to comply with this provision of the ESA with respect to 

dispersant use is arbitrary and capricious, an abuse ofdiscretion, not in accordance with law, and 

21 a failure to observe proper procedure within the meaning of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 

22 U.S.C. § 706(2) and is subject to judicial review under 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g). 

23 VII. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

24 For the reasons stated above, Plaintiffs respectfully request that the Court grant the 

following relief. 

26 1. Declare that Defendants violated the ESA and its implementing regulations by 

27 failing to ensure that the listing of dispersants on the Product Schedule will not jeopardize 

28 the continued existence of threatened or endangered species or destroy or adversely 
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modify species' critical habitat; 

2. Declare that Defendants violated the ESA and its implementing regulations by 

failing to ensure that the approval of the Region IX Regional Contingency Plan will not 

jeopardize the continued existence of threatened or endangered species or destroy or 

adversely modify species' critical habitat; 

3. Order Defendants to initiate consultation on listing dispersants on the Product 

Schedule by a date certain; 

4. Order Defendants to initiate consultation on the Region IX Regional Contingency 

Plan with the National Marine Fisheries Service and the Fish and Wildlife Service by a 

IOdate certain; 

11 5. Award Plaintiffs costs and attorneys' fees under the ESA, 16 U.S.C. § 1540(g); and 

12 6. Grant Plaintiffs such other and further relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

13 


14 DATE: April 18, 2012 Respectfully Submitted, 


15 

16 ~,tdt~ " 
Catherine W. Kilduff(CA Bar No. 256331) 17 
Center for Biological Diversity 

18 351 California Street, Suite 600 
San Francisco, CA 94104 

19 Phone: (415) 436-96821 Facsimile: (415) 436-9683 

20 
Deirdre McDonnell (AK Bar No. 111082) 

21 Pro Hac Vice Motion forthcoming 
Center for Biological Diversity 

22 P.O. Box 1901 
Portland, OR 97280

23 Phone: (971) 279-54711 Facsimile: (415) 436-9683 

24 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
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